
         

 

 

MONTECITO 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT 
 

BREVARD COUNTY 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

DECEMBER 13, 2023 
9:30 A.M. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Special District Services, Inc. 
The Oaks Center 

2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

www.montecitocdd.org 
561.630.4922 Telephone 
877.SDS.4922 Toll Free 
561.630.4923 Facsimile 



 
AGENDA 

MONTECITO 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

Montecito Beach Club 
208 Montecito Drive 

Satellite Beach, Florida 32937 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

ZOOM LINK: HTTPS://US02WEB.ZOOM.US/J/3341025012 
CALL IN: (305) 224 1968 MEETING ID: 334 102 5012 

December 13, 2023 
9:30 A.M. 

 
 

 

A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication………………………………………………………………………………........Page 1 

C. Establish Quorum 

D. Additions or Deletions to Agenda 

E. Comments From the Public Related to Agenda Items (Limited to 3 Minutes per Person) 

F. Approval of Consent Agenda 

1. November 8, 2023 Regular Board Meeting Minutes………………………….............................Page 2 

G. Landscape and Irrigation Report 

1. ProGreen…………………………………………………………………………………………Page 9 

H. Old Business 

1. Status of Rock Installation by Vue Fence – 50% Cost Share Offer 

2. Status of Consumptive Use Permit (CUP) Compliance  

3. Status of Parcel Conveyance – Final 11 Parcels from Montecito CDD Holdings 

4. Discussion Regarding Aquatic Maintenance…………………………………………………….Page 12 

5. Consider Proposals for Replacement of 400 amp Panel Board………………………………….Page 38 

6. Discussion Regarding Resolution No. 2023-06 – Providing District Manager with Limited 
Discretionary Spending Authority……………………………………………………………….Page 42 

I. New Business 

1. Consider Approval of First Amendment to Landscape/Grounds Maintenance Services 
Agreement………………………………………………………………………………………..Page 45 
 

2. Consider Acceptance of Donation of Clubhouse Kitchen Appliances…………………………..Page 49 

3. Consider Resolution No. 2023-22 – Declaring Surplus (Kitchen Appliances)………………….Page 55 

4. Discussion of Budget and Expenditure Process………………………………………………….Page 58 

5. Discussion of CDD Website Homepage 

6. Discussion of Vesta Ticketing System 

7. Discussion of Pond Debris/Trash 

J. General Manager’s Report and Related Business Items 

1. General Manager’s Report……………………………………………………………………….Page 59 

 



 

2. Homeowner Request 

3. Supervisor Request 

K. Administrative Maters 

1. Legal Report 

2. Engineer Report 

3. Managers Report 

a. Financials………………………………………………………………………………….Page 64 

L. Board Member Requests 

M. Comments From the Audience 

N. Announcement of Next Scheduled Board Meeting 

O. Adjourn 

 



Page 1



Page 1 of 7 
 

MONTECITO COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING MINUTES  
NOVEMBER 8, 2023 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The Regular Board Meeting of the Montecito Community Development District (the “District”) was 
called to order at 9:30 a.m. at 208 Montecito Drive, Satellite Beach, Florida 32937.  
 
B. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Proof of publication was presented which showed that notice of the Regular Board Meeting had been 
published in Florida Today on September 29, 2023, as part of the District’s Fiscal Year 2023/2024 
Meeting Schedule, as legally required.  
 
C. ESTABLISH A QUORUM 
 
A quorum was established with the following Supervisors in attendance: 
 
Catherine LeCesne, Ed Henson, Tanja Glynn, Richard Wellman and Eric Smith. 
 
Also in attendance were District Manager Frank Sakuma of Special District Services, Inc.; Attorney 
Michael Pawelczyk of Billing, Cochran, Lyles, Mauro & Ramsey, P.A.; and General Manager Denisse 
Grimm of Vesta Property Services. 
 
D. ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO THE AGENDA 
 
Mr. Sakuma asked for the following items to be added to the agenda: 
 

- Landscape Meeting Notes – Ed Henson; 
- Florida Door Control of Orlando: preventive maintenance proposal $1,142.00; 
- Florida Door Control of Orlando: gate renovations $14,785.72; 
- Complete Air & Heat: annual maintenance proposal: $1,780.00. 

 
There were no further additions or deletions to the agenda. 
 
A motion was made by Ms. LeCesne, seconded by Mr. Henson and passed unanimously adopting the 
agenda as amended. 
 
E.  COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC RELATED TO AGENDA ITEMS 
 
Ms. Janice Beasley asked for the Board to waive the application fees for use of the amenity center during 
a December 10th community event. After discussion, Board consensus was to consider these types of 
requests on a case-by-case basis. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Wellman, seconded by Mr. Smith and passed unanimously waiving the 
room rental fees for the December 10th community event. The applicant was advised the application 
form was still necessary, and that no alcohol would be allowed at the event.  
 

Page 2



Page 2 of 7 
 

A Homeowner Request by Ms. Barbara Fowle was then considered at Board direction. 
 

c. 136 Clemente – Request Removal of White Birds of Paradise from in Front of Their 
Home in CDD Area 
 

Ms. Barbara Fowle asked for Board consideration to allow her to have trimmed, at her expense, a bird 
of paradise plant located on District property. After Board discussion, a motion was made by Mr. 
Henson, seconded by Ms. LeCesne and passed unanimously directing ProGreen to 1) trim the bird of 
paradise plant at 136 Clement; and 2) to evaluate and then bring back a recommendation to the Board 
for trimming all bird of paradise plants on District property.  
 
Mr. Mark Nehiba commented on the issues of electric bikes travelling dangerously within the 
community, and the pedestrian gate repairs. Staff reported the gate repairs should be completed in the 
next several weeks. Board consensus was to have the District Engineer made aware of the traffic 
concerns and offer suggestions.  
 
Ms. Carol Wellman complained about dirt bikes travelling on the sidewalks. Mr. Pawelczyk advised 
individuals to call 911 for any violations of the law.  
 
Ms. Betsy Vincent asked about the proposed rocks along Carlsbad Drive; areas of brown and dying grass 
within common areas; and is pleased with the ongoing communication between the District and its 
residents and hopes it will continue. 
 
Mr. Sakuma updated those in attendance with his efforts at asking the adjacent developer to the east to 
cost share in the rocks along Carlsbad Drive (Status of Rock Installation by Vue Fence). He hopes to 
have an answer for the Board by the next meeting.  
 
Ms. Carol Wellman asked if the Board would have staff put up the Christmas tree with lights in advance 
of the December 6th decorating event. After Board discussion, a motion was made by Ms. LeCesne, 
seconded by Mr. Smith and passed unanimously to have the December 6th holiday decorating of the 
clubhouse coordinated with the General Manager.  
 
F.  APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
  1. October 11, 2023, Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
 
A motion was made by Ms. Glynn, seconded by Ms. LeCesne and passed unanimously approving all 
items under Consent Agenda. 
 
G.  LANDSCAPE & IRRIGATION REPORTS 
 

1. ProGreen 
 
Mr. Sakuma announced the report was included in the Board package and Mr. Kahue from ProGreen 
was in the audience to answer questions. Mr. Kahue answered several Board questions related to the 
irrigation system; wet checks; and fertilizer. Mr. Henson advised that the handout to Board members 
included elements of his meeting with ProGreen and Ms. Grimm.  
 
H.  OLD BUSINESS 

Page 3



Page 3 of 7 
 

 
1. Status of Rock Installation by Vue Fence  

 
This update was provided during Public Comments.  
 

2. Status of Consumptive Use Permit (CUP) Compliance  
 
Mr. Sakuma advised the new District Engineer had been working with Insight (vendor) in handing off 
the CUP compliance to the Engineer. He advised of the several items which need to be addressed as well 
as the upcoming renewal of the CUP in 2026.  
 

3. Status of Parcel Conveyances   
 
Mr. Pawelczyk provided the Board with an update on his work with the District Engineer on parcels 
which need to be transferred to the District.  
 
I. NEW BUSINESS 
  

1. Consider Approval of Electronic Box Repair  
 
Ms. Grimm explained the location of the boxes and the need for their repair. A motion was made by Ms. 
LeCesne, seconded by Mr. Wellman and unanimously passed approving the repair of the two electronic 
boxes by Luke’s Handyman and Window Cleaning in the amount of $1,750.00.  
 

2. Discussion of the Montecito Irrigation Analysis 2023  
 
After Board discussion of the irrigation analysis, a motion was made by Ms. LeCesne, seconded by Mr. 
Smith and unanimously passed accepting the Montecito Irrigation Analysis prepared by Insight, as set 
forth in the agenda. 
 

3. Discussion Regarding Aquatic Maintenance  
 
Mr. Sakuma advised of his call with a reference for Solitude. After Board discussion, staff was directed 
to bring the proposals and any further reference checks to a future meeting for consideration.  
 

4. Consider Resolution 2023-21 Adopting Fiscal Year 2023/2023 Amended Budget 
 
Mr. Sakuma presented Resolution 2023-21 entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-21 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
MONTECITO COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT AUTHORIZING 
AND ADOPTING AN AMENDED FINAL FISCAL YEAR 2022/2023 BUDGET 
(“AMENDED BUDGET”), PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 189, FLORIDA 
STATUTES; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Mr. Sakuma read the title of the resolution into the record and stated the District had 60 days from the 
end of the fiscal year to make any budget amendments. After Board discussion, a motion was made by 

Page 4



Page 4 of 7 
 

Mr. Wellman, seconded by Mr. Smith and unanimously passed approving and adopting Resolution No. 
2023-21, as presented. 
 
 

5. Memo of Landscape & Irrigation Meeting - Mr. Henson  
 
Mr. Sakuma advised the Board of the handout distributed during the meeting. Those items were covered 
under the Landscape & Irrigation Report.  
 

6. FDC Quarterly Preventive Maintenance Repairs Proposal  
 
Ms. Grimm explained the elements of the proposal from FDC and asked the Board if they had any 
questions about the maintenance required for the gates. A motion was made by Mr. Wellman, seconded 
by Mr. Smith and unanimously passed approving the FDC quarterly preventive maintenance repairs 
proposal for $1,142.00.  
 

7. FDC Pedestal and Geometry Corrections Proposal   
 
Ms. Grimm explained the history of the prior Board’s approval of renovating the gates with the intent of 
saving the planters adjacent to the gates. The initial work would have destroyed the planters. FDC has 
provided another proposal to make repairs and then “raise the arms” over the planters for a cost of 
$14,785.72. After Board discussion, the District Engineer was tasked with reviewing the gates and 
making a recommendation to the Board.  
 

8. Complete Air & Heat – Quarterly Maintenance Proposal   
 
Ms. Grimm advised the Board of staff recommendation to seek another air conditioner repair service. 
After discussion and review of the quote, the Board agreed to change vendors with a clarification of the 
“quantity” noted on the quote to reflect the cost was for all four visits. A motion was made by Mr. 
Wellman, seconded by Mr. Smith and unanimously passed approving the proposal from Complete Air 
& Heat, once corrected as to “quantity”.  
 
J. GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT AND RELATED BUSINESS ITEMS 
 

1. General Manager’s Report 
 
Ms. Lea Stokes of Vesta Property Services notified the Board that Ms. Grimm would be expanding her 
role at Vesta and would be replaced by Ms. Dawn McCray. They would both be working together for 
the next 30 days for the transition. The Board thanked Ms. Grimm for her service and welcomed Ms. 
McCray, who was in attendance.  
 
Ms. Grimm highlighted several items covered in the General Manager’s Report and then moved on to 
Related Business Items. 
 

2. Consider Approval of Priority Replacement of Electrical Panel at Pump Station 2  
 
The Board directed staff to obtain additional quotes for this work, and then to go with the lowest quote.  
 

3. Consider Approval to Purchase Clubhouse Controller 

Page 5



Page 5 of 7 
 

After Board discussion, a motion was made by Mr. Smith, seconded by Mr. Wellman and unanimously 
passed approving the purchase and installation of the Clubhouse Controller for $6,900.00. 
 

4. Consider Approval to Install Black Metal Edging 

After Board discussion, no motion was offered on this item. Staff was directed not to bring this item 
forward to a future meeting unless further directed by the Board.  
 

5. Consider Approval to Replace Shrubs in Park Area  

 
After Board discussion, a motion was made by Mr. Wellman, seconded by Mr. Henson and unanimously 
passed approving the replacement of shrubs in the park area with Gold Mound and Crotons for 
$1,100.00. 
 

6. Homeowner Requests  
 
a.   93 Montecito – Request Sod Installed at 5 Foot Section of CDD Area Behind Townhomes at 
Shearwater Wall 

 
Ms. Deems asked for Board assistance in addressing the dead sod behind her townhome. Mr. 
Kahoe explained why that area requires “shade tolerant” vegetation due to both the wall and 
maturing trees. The Board directed the District Engineer and Attorney to determine 
ownership of that section along the wall in order to help inform possible landscape solutions 
to the area. Mr. Kahoe offered to come back to the Board with some options to consider. 
 

b.   629 Monterey – Request Removal of Muhly Grass on Shoreline of Pond and Replaced with 
Grass to not Obstruct his View of the Water 
 

The homeowner was not present to discuss this item. The Board consensus was not to remove 
the Muhly Grass, as it was scheduled for trimming and more importantly, helps with shoreline 
stabilization.  
 

c.   136 Clemente – Request Removal of White Birds of Paradise from in Front of Their Home 
in CDD Areas 
 
      This item was addressed under Public Comment       
 

7. Supervisor Requests 
 
a.    Henson – Request Change of Bush Heights in Landscape Agreement to (6 Feet In Privacy 
Areas – Backs of Homes) and Windowsill Height Along all Sides of the Townhomes.   
 

Mr. Henson asked for Board consideration of changing the height of shrubs in the Landscape 
Contract to address privacy concerns. Staff was directed to work with the Attorney and bring 
an amendment to the contract to the next meeting. 
 

b.    Henson – Request CDD Work with HOA to Ensure Both Governing Rules Match Regarding 
Bush Heights and Landscaping Requirements 
 

Page 6



Page 6 of 7 
 

This was addressed in the prior item “a.” above. 
 
c.   Henson – Request to Have Palms on Carlsbad Mulched 
 

Mr. Henson advised the palms on Carlsbad may have had mulch circles at one time in the 
past and asked if the Board wanted to create mulch circles around the palms, or just let the 
grass grow. Board consensus was to allow grass to grow, not to mulch. 

 
d.   Henson – Request Board Consider Soil Samples in Areas Like Ventura that Have Always 
Struggled 
 
             Mr. Henson advised the Board that soil samples from struggling areas would be helpful in 

maintaining the landscaping. Mr. Kahoe confirmed his team would conduct samples at no 
additional cost to the District.  

 
e.   Henson – Request Board Consider Removal of 4 Trees on Montecito by Mailboxes 
and Carlsbad that Seem to Struggle and Fall Over and replace with a New Type of Tree. Silver 
Button does well 
 

Mr. Kahoe advised there were about five trees which should be replaced with Silver Button 
trees or Crepe Myrtle. After Board discussion, Mr. Kahoe was directed to confirm with the 
City of Satellite Beach as to the ability to remove the trees in question and just replace them 
with sod.  
 

f.    Wellman – Request to Have the “No Construction Vehicles” Sign Removed 
 
Staff was directed to have the sign in question removed. 

 
K. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
 

1. Legal Report 

Mr. Pawelczyk had nothing further for the Board. 

2. General Manager 

Ms. Stokes asked for Board permission to set the General Manager hours from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 
The Board agreed.  
 

3. Engineer Report 

No additional information was provided to the Board. 

4. Manager Report 

Mr. Sakuma noted the Financial Report was included in the report and asked for guidance on where to 
include the report on future agendas. He was directed to continue to have financials provided at the end 
of the agenda. He also advised of progress with the IRS and that payroll should be run by end of 
November.  
 
L. BOARD MEMBER REQUESTS 
 

Page 7



Page 7 of 7 
 

1. LeCesne – Change Order Requests 

Ms. LeCesne asked for consideration of change orders when making adjustments and changes to cost 
elements of budget line items in order to better track those changes.  
 

2. LeCesne – Donations to District 

Ms. LeCesne asked if the District could accept donations, for instance appliances. Mr. Pawelczyk 
advised the District could accept donations and explained the process which would accommodate such 
a donation. After further discussion, a motion was made by Mr. Smith, seconded by Ms. Glynn and 
unanimously passed authorizing Mr. Henson to inspect the items for donation, and if acceptable, notify 
the District Manager so a resolution may be brought forward to surplus the equipment to be replaced.   
 

3. Glynn – District Email 

Ms. Glynn asked for assistance in making sure her District e-mail was being forwarded to her private e-
mail. Mr. Sakuma offered to assist in that confirmation. 
 
M. COMMENTS FROM THE AUDIENCE 
 
“Glossy vs. Not Glossy” & “Cream vs. Yellow” 

Ms. Grimm provided sign examples to the Board to determine and asked if the signs should be “glossy” 
or “not glossy”. Board consensus was for the “not glossy” signs. Also, the Board advised staff to use the 
“cream with black writing” version of the signs.  
 
N. ANNOUNCEMENT OF NEXT SCHEDULED BOARD MEETING 
 
Mr. Sakuma announced the next scheduled meeting would be held December 13, 2023.  
 
O. ADJOURN 
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, Chairperson LeCesne adjourned the meeting 
at 12:20 p.m. without objection. 
 
 
 ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 ________________________________   _________________________________ 
 Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson/Vice-Chair 

Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



•

•
•

Page 11



Page 12



Reference check: Tortoise Island (name: Debbie ) 

1. What services? Just aquatics.

2. How long? Several years, bought out prior vendor.

3. Satisfied? Yes.

Reference check: Fern Meadow HOA (Craig  Curtis – left message 12:37pm 11/7) 

1. What services?

2. How long?

3. Satisfied?

Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



 1 

Durham & Sons, Inc. 
A/C, Refrigeration, Heating, & Electrical Contractors 

1947 N. Harbor City Blvd. Melbourne, FL 32935 
321-259-COOL /2665     321-757-YORK /9675     321-636-6899      FAX 321-255-0840 

Web site: www.durhamandsons.com 
CAC1814163, EC0002671, EC13002226, CAC1814969 CAC1814074 

PROPOSAL 
Proposal Submitted to: Denise Grimm 
Address: 208 Montecito Dr 
City/State: Satellite Beach Fl. 32937 
Phone: 321-777-9460   Home  Work -        E-mail: dgrimm@vestpropertyservices.com                                     
Date: November 27, 2023    Proposal provided by: Vince DiSalvio  
We hereby submit specifications and estimates for: New panel.   
   The following items are included:                     

 We will remove the existing outdoor 400 amp three phase main breaker panel that controls the IRR. 
system and the pond fountains. 

 We will remove the existing strut that is on the wall to support the panel. 
 We will install new stainless steel strut on the wall in place of the existing strut. 
 We will install  a new outdoor 400 amp three phase main breaker panel in place of the existing one. 
 We will install all new breakers in the new panel. 
 We will make all wire connections in the new panel. 
 We will label the panel.   
 A PERMIT & an FPL disconnect is required. 

   

TOTAL LABOR AND MATERIALS $6,750.00 
Permit fees are additional. 

    
 Due to the volatility of metal and oil prices at this time, all quotes are subject to change if 

not accepted within 5 days.   
 Re-finish of sheet rock around new panel installation, currently covering conductors above or below panel, SHALL BE BY 

THE HOMEOWNER.  If inspecting official deems your existing material insufficient, as per physical protection of the 
conductors, additional charges will be submitted. This shall be in a change order form, to owners, prior to replacement of 
materials.   

 In the event it is necessary to add unforeseen items, a change order will be presented, before any extras are performed.  
Existing code violations, are subject to inspecting official’s determinations as per acceptability, and shall not be considered 
part of this proposal. Payment to this Contractor shall be made regardless of pre- existing violations at this property, not 
considered in this scope of work and or this proposal, and its exact listed improvements herein. 

     

 Any stucco that has been damaged or removed or exposure to the block and or insulation, or stud frame home 
and insulation during our work on your structure; stucco replacement or patching large or small, and all 
sealing and safeguarding is the homeowner’s responsibility and not within this contract.  We offer no liability 
or responsibility in any manner concerning these areas, including any potential damage now or in the future 
for the life of the structure. 

Page 38



 2 

This agreement contains the entire understanding between the Company and the Customer, any modifications, amendments or 
changes must be in writing and signed by both parties 
 
We hereby propose to furnish labor and materials - complete in accordance with the above specifications, 
for the sum of: 
$ 6,750.00    Initial                              
 
Please check and initial above, then sign below, on page 3, as the owner or authorized representative:  
 
Payment to be made as follows 
$.00 dollars upon commencement of work. The total remaining amount of $ 6,750 .00______is due upon 
completion of job. 
 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS: 
Any engineering required by the building department, or independent testing is at additional cost to you the owner of the property.   

1. All labor is to be performed during the Companies regular working hours, unless noted in this proposal. 
2. Warranty work is performed during the Companies normal business hours, but can be performed after normal hours if the 

Customer pays the difference between standard labor rate and overtime rate. 
3. Until final payment is made, the Company will retain the title to all materials and equipment it installs. 
4. Unless noted in this proposal, payment is due in full upon completion of the work. A monthly finance charge, equal to the highest 

allowable interest rate, may be levied on the Customers account if delinquent over 30 days. 
5. In the event the Customers account must be referred to attorneys for collection, the Customer agrees to pay reasonable attorney 

fees, court costs and other collection costs. 
6. Every attempt will be made to complete the work on the date(s) specified, but because the Company may have no control over 

equipment delivery, all completion dates are estimates only. 
7. While the Company is well insured, the Customer will carry fire, extended coverage and other necessary insurance. 
8. Customer shall assume; concerning your building or home all risk of; fire damage, damage, water line damage- inside or outside, 

property loss, or loss or damage to HVAC or air conditioning or heating equipment gas or electric, or any electrical or electronic 
device, after it is set in place on the job. This relates to air conditioning or heating equipment, surge devices, water flow or mold 
or resulting damages, water overflow safety devices or audible alarms or resulting damages, or other electronic or electrical device 
or damages. Beyond stated warranty on equipment or labor, the warranty on surge devices, water overflow devices, or alarms; 
these are only warranted for 1-year for any part or device if it fails. As we follow and utilize the building codes on all jobs 
including this one and will / have had your job inspected by the administrative authority, and install equipment and devices 
manufactured by others, you now agree and indemnify and hold harmless Durham and Sons Inc. if your property suffers a loss 
or damage, you hereby agree it is your insurance company or the manufacturer of the product and not Durham and Sons which 
shall bear responsibility. 

9. Customer shall hold harmless Durham and Sons Inc., for any latent defect any equipment or components installed by or serviced 
by our firm.  Or unknown defect or potential future defect in any equipment or components installed by or serviced by our firm.  
You agree and recognize that we did not manufacturer the equipment or devices, and if a property loss or bodily harm occurs, it 
is the manufacturer of equipment or devices that you must seek for indemnification at your own cost in a court of law, or even 
small claims court.   

10. The Company shall not be liable for damage, loss or delays resulting from fire, explosion, flooding, the elements, labor troubles, 
or any other cause beyond our control. 

11. The Company shall not responsible for any damages incurred due to the ability of the building structure to properly support the 
installed equipment, or for expense incurred in removing, replacing or refinishing part of the building structure, this applies to 
appliances, hot water heaters or tanks, or other systems necessary for the performance of any service or installation, unless 
otherwise noted in this proposal.  

12. The Company shall not be liable for the identification, detection, abatement, encapsulation, storage, removal or transportation of 
any regulated or hazardous substances that exist in the structure whether concealed or not. Including current and future mold 
growth. 

13. You agree that we may video or photograph our employees during the installation process, for training or advertising purposes.       
No recognizable video or photos of your home or family are taken; no references to your name or address are given. 

14. This agreement contains the entire understanding between the Company and the Customer, any modifications, amendments or 
changes must be in writing and signed by both parties.    

Page 39



 3 

Authorized Durham & Sons, Inc., Employee Signature:                     Vince DiSalvio 
                
 
This proposal is valid for 30 days and any code violations noted by inspecting official and not related to the  
scope of above work will be the owner’s responsibility to bring into compliance. 

 
 

Consumer Protection Rights notice, for total labor and material amounts over $2,500.00: 
Any agreement or contract for repair, restoration, improvement, or construction to residential real property, Owner be advised of the Florida 
Construction Industry Recovery Fund.  Payment may be available from the Construction Industry Recovery Fund if you lose money on a project 
performed under contract, where the loss results from specified violations of Florida Law by a State-Licensed Contractor, For information about the 
recovery fund and filing a claim, contact the Florida Construction Industry Licensing Board at the following telephone number and address:  (904) 727-
6530, 7960 Arlington Expressway Suite 300, Jacksonville Fl.  32211  
 
 
 
Right of Rescission: 
You the Buyer may cancel this Transaction at any time prior to midnight of the Third business day after signing this document.  This 
must be in writing, addressed to Durham and Sons Inc. 1947 North Harbor City Blvd. Melbourne Florida 32935. Simply sign here and 
date, mailing this entire proposal original copy to the address listed above:       
  Date:          
 
 
Waiver of Right of Rescission: 
We the undersigned have never the less requested Durham and Sons Inc. TO GO FORWARD WITH THE INSTALLATION of HVAC 
products, including related electrical, and hereby waive the (3) three day right of termination for any reason.  We understand that 
notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Proposal Agreement, that we void our right of termination of this contract.  
This is required for any installation that is an emergency replacement, or is scheduled for installation prior to the right of Rescission time 
frame, or for any other reason.  Signature:     Print:    Date    

 

Acceptance of Proposal 
The above prices, specifications and conditions are hereby accepted.  You are authorized to do the work as 
specified. 
 

Payment will be made as outlined above. 
 
Owner's or Agent's Signature:                                             State of Florida, County of                    

 

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this              day of                      , 2023  
 

 
By                            ____who produced                  as, identification and who did/did not, take an oath. 
 

 
Signature of Notary                                           Print Name________________________                           

 

Page 40



PHONE: (321)327-8988 E-MAIL: CONTACT@GAULTELECTRIC321.COM FAX: (321)241-4896 
BREVARD COUNTY LICENSE 09-EL-CT-00062 STATE OF FLORIDA LICENSE EC13005117 

GAULT ELECTRIC LLC 

715 North Drive Ste G 
Melbourne, Florida 32934 

(321) 327-8988 Office 
(321) 241-4896 FAX 

CONTACT@GAULTELECTRIC321.COM 
 
 
 
 
 

PROPOSAL                          JOB LOCATION      

MONTECITO CDD                                                                      MONTECITO BEACH CLUB 
6200 LEE VISTA BLVD.  #300                                                   SATELLITE BEACH, FL 
ORLANDO, FL  32822 
PHONE:  (407)841-5524 
FAX:          (407)839-1526 
 
REPLACE RUSTED OUT 400 AMP THREE-PHASE 120/240 VOLT OUT-DOOR PANEL BOARD 
THAT FEEDS IRRIGATION AND POND EQUIPMENT.  EXISTING WIRING WILL BE USED. 
 
PRICE OF ABOVE: $8,050.00 
 
 
AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE:  __JAMIE GAULT_ __ 
 
DATE:  ____October 13, 2023__________  
NOTE:  THIS PROPOSAL MAY BE WITHDRAWN IF NOT ACCEPTED WITHIN 15 DAYS.  
I AGREE TO ALL TERMS CONTAINED WITHIN THIS CONTRACT. 
 

SIGN__________________________________________ 
 
 

PRINT __________________________________________________ 

 
 

DATE____________________________ 
 

TERMS:  NET 30 DAYS 1.5% PER MONTH INTEREST 

Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



1 
ProGreen Agmt 1st Amd 
Rev. 11-14-2023 

 

 
FIRST AMENDMENT TO 

LANDSCAPE/GROUNDS MAINTENANCE SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 
 

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO LANDSCAPE/GROUNDS 
MAINTENANCE SERVICES AGREEMENT, made and entered into this ______ day 
of December, 2023, by and between the MONTECITO COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a local unit of special purpose government established 
pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated in the City of Satellite Beach, 
Brevard County, Florida, whose mailing address is 2501A Burns Road, Palm Beach 
Gardens, Florida 33410 (hereinafter “Owner” or “District”) and PROGREEN 
SERVICES, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, whose mailing address is 5450 
10th Avenue North, Greenacres, Florida 33463 (hereinafter “Contractor”). 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

WHEREAS, the District and Contractor entered into a Landscape/Grounds 
Maintenance Services Agreement, dated December 23, 2022 (the “Agreement”); and  

 
WHEREAS, the parties mutually agree to update those provisions of the 

Agreement referencing the address of the District and to amend the Scope of Services, 
with respect to hedge/bush trimming heights. 

  
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals, agreements and mutual 

covenants contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by the parties, the parties agree as follows: 

 
Section 1. The recitals stated above are true and correct and by this reference 

are incorporated into and form a material part of this Agreement. 
 
Section 2. Section 14 of the Agreement, entitled “NOTICE” is hereby 

replaced  in its entirety with the following: 
 
14. NOTICE. 

 
a. Notices required or permitted to be given under this 

Agreement shall be in writing, may be delivered personally or by mail, 
facsimile, or courier service, and shall be deemed given when received by 
the addressee.  Notices shall be addressed as follows: 

 
      If to Owner: Montecito Community Development District 

2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 
Attention: Frank Sakuma, District Manager 
 

Page 45



2 
ProGreen Agmt 1st Amd 
Rev. 11-14-2023 

 

 
 Copy to: Billing, Cochran, Lyles, Mauro & Ramsey, P.A. 
   515 E. Las Olas Blvd., Suite 600 
   Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301  
   Attention:  Michael J. Pawelczyk, Esq.  

 
If to Contractor: ProGreen Services, LLC 
 5450 10th Avenue North 
 Greenacres, Florida 33463 
 Attention: President 

 
and to such other address as either party may direct by notice given to the 
other as hereinabove provided. 
 

b. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any notice sent to 
the last designated address of the party to whom a notice may be or is 
required to be delivered under this Agreement shall not be deemed 
ineffective if actual delivery cannot be made due to a change of address of 
the party to whom the notice is directed or the failure or refusal of such 
party to accept delivery of the notice. 
 
Section 3. Section 18 of the Agreement, entitled “PUBLIC RECORDS” is 

hereby amended to replace subsection C. in its entirety with the following: 
 
18. PUBLIC RECORDS. 
 
… 
 

C. IF THE CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS 
REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, 
FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE CONTRACTOR’S 
DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING 
TO THIS AGREEMENT/CONTRACT, THE 
CONTRACTOR MAY CONTACT THE CUSTODIAN OF 
PUBLIC RECORDS FOR THE DISTRICT AT: 

 
SPECIAL DISTRICT SERVICES, INC 
2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 
TELEPHONE: (561) 630-4922 
EMAIL: bbarba@sdsinc.org 

 

Page 46



3 
ProGreen Agmt 1st Amd 
Rev. 11-14-2023 

 

Section 4. Section 3.2.1 of the Scope of Services (Exhibit B to the 
Agreement) of the Agreement, entitled “Pruning” is hereby amended to replace 
subsection b. in in its entirety with the following: 

 
 
3.2.1 Pruning. 
 
… 
 
b. Shrubs shall be hand clipped to remove only the top excess growth. 

Hedge sheering shall not be performed until shrub rows are completely 
full and have obtained at least three (3) feet full height. Pruning sides of 
shrubs shall be avoided to allow the mass to naturally fill. 

 
a. Additional Specifications 

i. Townhome Side Hedges – Kept at windowsill height along 
townhome walls 

ii. Coco Plums Along Lakes and common area access points – 
maintained at 4’ Height 

iii. Wall Hedge Height Inside and Outside – maintained at 5’ 
Height 

iv. Privacy hedges and bushes behind homes and patios – 
maintained at 6’ height 

… 
 
Section 5. In all other respects not specifically amended by this First 

Amendment to Agreement, the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.   
 

 
[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

Page 47



4 
ProGreen Agmt 1st Amd 
Rev. 11-14-2023 

 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties execute this First Amendment to 

Agreement and further agree that it shall take effect as of the Effective Date first above 
written. 
 
Contractor: Owner/District:  
 
PROGREEN SERVICES, LLC,  MONTECITO COMMUNITY  
5450 10th Avenue North                                       DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, 
Greenacres, FL  33463    2501A Burns Road 
       Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410  
 
  
 
 
 
By:_____________________________ By:__________________________ 
      W. Clark Whidden, Jr., President/CEO        Catherine LeCesne, Chairperson 
 
 
Date:_____________________ Date:________________________ 

Page 48



Gift Donation- Appliances 
Rev. 11-13-2023 

DECLARATION OF GIFT 

BILL OF SALE, AND ACCEPTANCE OF GIFT 

 

 KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, CATHERINE LECESNE, an individual, 
hereinafter called GRANTOR which term shall include the singular or plural as the context shall 
require, for and in consideration of and valuable consideration, delivered by MONTECITO 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a local unit of special purpose government 
established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, hereinafter called GRANTEE, the receipt 
whereof is hereby acknowledged, has granted, bargained, sold, transferred, donated, and delivered, 
and by these presents does grant, bargain, sell, transfer, donate, and deliver unto the GRANTEE, 
its successors and assigns, the following items, without any compensation therefor, which shall 
also be referred to as “Property”: 

 
The kitchen appliances more particularly described as Exhibit “A”; attached hereto 
and made a part hereof  
 

 TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the same unto the GRANTEE, its successors and assigns 
forever.  

 GRANTOR does covenant to and with the GRANTEE, its successors and assigns, that 
GRANTOR is the lawful owner of the above described; that said Property is free from all 
encumbrances; that GRANTOR has good right to sell the same aforesaid; that the GRANTOR 
will warrant and defend the sale of the said Property unto the GRANTEE, its successors and 
assigns, against the lawful claims and demands of all persons whomsoever. GRANTOR does 
hereby donate the Property, excluding the installation, to the GRANTEE and releases and assigns 
any rights, title, claims and interest which is may now or hereafter possess in any public use which 
is made of said Property. It is the intention of the GRANTOR to vest all incidents of absolute 
ownership in said Property in the GRANTEE from this date forward. 

  

Page 49



Gift Donation- Appliances 
Rev. 11-13-2023 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the GRANTOR has hereunto set its hand and seal this ____ 
day of _____________, 2023. 

WITNESSETH: CATHERINE LECESNE, an individual 

 

____________________________ By: _______________________________ 
        Catherine LeCesne 
Print Name: __________________ 

____________________________    

Print Name: __________________ 

 

STATE OF FLORIDA } 
COUNTY OF BREVARD } 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of [__] physical presence 
or [__] online notarization, this ____ day of _______________, 2023, by Catherine LeCesne, an 
individual, who is personally known to me or has produced _________________ as identification 
and did not (did) take an oath. 

 

____________________________________ 
Notary Public, State of Florida 
[Signature] 
 
____________________________________ 
Name of Notary 
[Typed, Printed or Stamped] 

My Commission Expires: 

  

Page 50



Gift Donation- Appliances 
Rev. 11-13-2023 

 GRANTEE, the MONTECITO COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a local 
unit of special purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
expresses its gratitude and acknowledges receipt of the above Improvements from GRANTOR, 
CATHERINE LECESNE, and herby accepts said Appliances described herein.  

WITNESSETH:  

____________________________  MONTECITO COMMUNITY  
 DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a local unit of  
Print Name: __________________ special purpose government established pursuant to 

Chapter 190, Florida Statutes 
____________________________  

Print Name: __________________  By: _______________________________ 
             ____________________, Vice-Chairman  
 Board of Supervisors 
 

STATE OF FLORIDA } 
COUNTY OF BREVARD } 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of [__] physical presence 
or [__] online notarization, this ____ day of _______________, 2023, by 
_________________________, as Vice-Chairman of the Board of Supervisors, who is personally 
known to me or has produced _________________ as identification and did not (did) take an oath. 

 

____________________________________ 
Notary Public, State of Florida 
[Signature] 
 
____________________________________ 
Name of Notary 
[Typed, Printed or Stamped] 

My Commission Expires: 

  

Page 51



Gift Donation- Appliances 
Rev. 11-13-2023 

Exhibit “A” 

Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



RESOLUTION 2023-22 
 

 
A RESOLUTION BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
MONTECITO COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
CLASSIFYING CERTAIN TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY 
OF THE DISTRICT, INCLUDING KITCHEN APPLIANCES 
FROM THE MONTECITO AMENITY CENTER, AS SURPLUS 
AND AUTHORIZING THE DISTRICT MANAGER TO SELL OR 
DISPOSE OF SAID PROPERTY AS EXPEDITIOUSLY AS 
POSSIBLE IN ACCORDANCE WITH CHAPTER 274, FLORIDA 
STATUTES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE  
 
 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the Montecito Community Development District 

(collectively, the “District”) owns certain tangible personal property, including certain kitchen appliances 

utilized in the kitchen of the Montecito Amenity Center, as more fully described in Exhibit “A”, 

incorporated herein and made a part hereof (the “Property”); and 

 WHEREAS, said Property is no longer useful to the District and the continued use of such Property 

is no longer economical or efficient, or said Property no longer serves a useful function; and 

 WHEREAS, the District desires to classify and declare said Property on Exhibit “A” as surplus 

tangible personal property that is obsolete and for which, the continued use of which would be 

uneconomical, inefficient to maintain, or serves no useful function; and 

 WHEREAS, the District desires to authorize the District Manager to sell or dispose of said 

Property as appropriate and in accordance with Chapter 274, Florida Statutes, governing the disposal of 

surplus tangible personal property by local governments, including special districts; and 

WHEREAS, the District finds it to be in the best interests of the District to dispose of the Property 

in accordance with this Resolution and Chapter 274, Florida Statutes. 

   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE MONTECITO COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT, THAT: 
 
 

 Section 1.  The above recitals are true and correct and incorporated herein as if set forth in full 

herein. 

 Section 2.  The District hereby declares the Property as surplus tangible personal property and 

determines that the continued use of such Property is uneconomical, inefficient to maintain, or serves no 

useful function. 

Page 55



Section 3. The District Manager is hereby authorized to take the necessary and appropriate 

steps to sell at auction or dispose as appropriate and in accordance with Chapter 274, Florida Statutes, said 

Property. 

 Section 4. All sections, or parts thereof, which conflict herewith, are, to the extent of such 

conflict, superseded and repealed.  In the event that any portion of this Resolution is found to be 

unconstitutional or improper, it shall be severed herein and shall not affect the validity of the remaining 

portions of this Resolution. 

 Section 5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 

   

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE MONTECITO 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, THIS 13th DAY OF DECEMBER, 2023. 

 

MONTECITO COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 
 
 
    
Frank Sakuma, Secretary  Catherine LeCesne, Chair 
  Board of Supervisors 
   
     

Page 56



EXHIBIT “A” 
 

PROPERTY DECLARED SURPLUS 
 
 
 

Item Brand Model No. Serial No. 
Refrigerator Kenmore Elite 25344503605 4A72714028 
Dishwasher Kenmore Elite Not visible Not visible 
Microwave Kenmore 72180523500 609TA01316 
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



PProjectt Executivee Summaryy –– EExample:: Pondd #22 Fountainn Repair
Bottomm Linee Upp Frontt (BLUF) Costt Impact

What iss beingg Requestedd att thee Revieww Board?
Why iss Request/Changee Required? How wass itt discovered,what wentt wrong,, etc?? 
Doess thiss impactt Governmentall requirements?orr aree impacted?

Whatt willl thiss changee helpp savee orr avoid?

Contractt Cost:Non-Recurringg Cost/Expenses (NRE):: Costt thatt occurr once,, suchh asRecurringg Cost:: Costt thatt occurr moree thann once,, suchh ass subscription,
Fundingg Source:

Page 58



PProposee Change/Update
ISDescribee old Describee new

Page 59



Project Reference 2023 2024
Fountain Repair (Labor Supplier 1) $1200
Fountain Repair (Labor Supplier 2) $2500
Fountain Parts $800

Costt Breakdown – – mayy expandd acrosss multiplee years,, ass 

BOE –

Page 60



PProvidee anyy additionall relevant
•
•
•
•
•
• Iss theree repairr requiredd immediately,, cann itt bee delayed?
•
•

Page 61



 

 GM-04 
08/2021 

 

MANAGER’S REPORT MONTECITO CDD 
  
 
Informational/Action Items completed: 
 

1. General Admin, Maintenance, and repairs 
a. The following items were addressed/ scheduled/ repaired: 

i. Playground swing removed – 2 holes patched. 
ii. New Well was completed and connected.  

iii. Contract for new Clubhouse Controller executed.  
iv. Sod and Jasmine installation completed.  
v. Worked with Satellite Beach on trees located at 

Montecito/Carlsbad/Simeon. 
vi. Continued working with City on Poinciana trees, attended meeting 

with arborist.   
vii. Removed “No Construction Vehicles” Signage. 

viii. Ordered Clubhouse Signs. 
ix. Updated Fire Chief with inspection items.  
x. The fire panel was updated and stickered properly.  

xi. Changed out three bad emergency light fixtures.  
xii. Addressed issues with pole/clubhouse lighting.  

xiii. Requested renderings for pillars at gate – attached.   
xiv. Requested more references from Crosscreek and Solitude.  
xv. Fitness room AC – was repaired and seems to be working well.  

xvi. Executed the new AC preventative maintenance program with 
Complete Air. 

xvii. Contacted donation centers regarding appliances – have 2 available to 
pick up.  

xviii. Met with electrical companies to review panel.  
xix. Had Fire System and Alarm System updated to reflect the correct 

name “The Montecito CDD”. 
xx. Holiday Décor/Tree were placed in Clubhouse. 

 
Decisions for Board Members/estimates: 
 

2. Priority – Electrical Panel – Pump station 2. Gualt $8,050.00   Durham $6,750.00 
(prices subject to change due to the volutile market) Brevard electric $ Will send to 
board upon receipt.         

 
 

Informational Items for Boards awareness: 
 
3. Vesta Ticket system – Board members should now be receiving all tickets and status 

changes. Change executed on 11/28/23. 

Page 62



 

 GM-04 
08/2021 

 

4. Meter for Well at pump station 2 is not functional. Requested assistance from the 
District Engineer Stef Matthes on this item.  Montecito has a spare meter housed in 
the shed, however, is over 5 years old and will require calibration.  

5. Cost to have appliances removed from the Kitchen by Vesta Maintenance, 2 techs at 
$110 per hour.  

6. Montecito Clubhouse roof – Followed up with Collis Roofing in November, they 
were waiting on their commercial division, and have Montecito Scheduled for 
December 12th start.   

7. Secure Fencing – Delays in installation due to the storms in Florida the week of the 
13th. Delivery of materials still has not occurred, they are in a waiting pattern and 
notified me on 11/28/23 that they are looking at another couple of weeks before the 
materials arrive. They have also encountered a labor shortage, which puts Montecito 
on schedule for the second week of December.  

a. This issue is also occurring with the fencing around the new Well. 
b. Homeowners are also encountering the same problem.  

8. City of Satellite Beach met with ProGreen and the Arborist on site to review the 
application for removal of the Poinciana trees.  

a.    Based on the conversation at the meeting, the city arborist agrees with both 
arbor reports and will be advising the city. ProGreen is working with the city 
arborist on the next steps to get the permit. Anticipate resolution within the 
next couple weeks.  

b. City arborist supplying list of FL native trees that can be used to put in place of 
the poinciana trees.  

9. The city of Satellite beach will not approve removal of trees located on Montecito 
and Simeon/Carlsbad. They would like them pruned instead. ProGreen working on 
plan – arborist recommended cutting into the root ball, as the trees were not planted 
properly.  

10. ProGreen completed the sod and jasmine installation on 12/1/23. The bushes on the 
beach lot were removed on 12/1/23, new bushes to be installed 12/7/23. 

11. Requested Stark extermination come out to Montecito to address wasp nests on 
building and in shoreline so that ProGreen can have grasses trimmed in December. 
Stark can complete the work and will have to do it at dawn. Waiting on schedule.   

 
 
 

 

Page 63



 Montecito
Community Development District

   Financial Report For
November 2023

Page 64



Page 65



Field Management Subtotal 

Amenity Center Operations Subtotal

Irrigation Subtotal

Stormwater Control Subtotal

Page 66



Landscaping Subtotal

Commons Areas, Right of Ways & Perimeter Walls Subtotal

Security Monitoring Services Subtotal

Utilities Subtotal

Other Subtotal

Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72


	Montecito Community Development District - December 13, 2023 Regular Board Meeting Book
	Agenda
	Proof of Publication
	November 8, 2023 Regular Board Meeting Minutes
	ProGreen
	Discussion Regarding Aquatic Maintenance
	Consider Approval of Proposals for Replacement of 400 amp Panel Board
	Discussion Regarding Resolution No. 2023-06 – Providing DistrictManager with Limited Discretionary Spending Authority
	Consider Approval of First Amendment to Landscape/Grounds Maintenance Services Agreement
	Consider Acceptance of Donation of Clubhouse Kitchen Appliances
	Consider Resolution No. 2023-22 – Declaring Surplus (Kitchen Appliances)
	Discussion of Budget and Expenditure Process
	General Manager’s Report
	Financials




